
Annual Report

2016/17









Contents 

  

From the Chair 6

Our board 7

From the Executive Director 8

Our staff 9

Our first 50 years 10

About us 12

Community priority 14

School students priority 20

Profession priority 24

Organisation-wide priority 29

Financial report 2016/2017 33



6

new reality by moving into the online space in both 
its own work, and also in supporting legal service 
providers to offer online support to Victorians.  

An example of the success of this approach can be 
seen in the foundation’s Everyday-Law website, which 
since 2014 has served the much-needed purpose of 
providing a single point of entry for Victorians looking 
online for help on common legal problems. Receiving a 
prestigious ClearMark award from the Center for Plain 
Language in 2015 for Best Legal Document, Everyday-
Law has achieved global recognition for its quality and 
the power of using plain language in legal resources 
intended for the broader community.

Additionally, earlier this year, we awarded a grant to 
Moonee Valley Legal Service to develop the innovative 
online service FineFixer. Now up and running, the 
FineFixer website helps Victorians to manage their 
fines by asking a series of questions then providing 
information on what options are available to them and 
next steps to take. FineFixer received more than 3,500 
visits in its first day, compelling evidence of both the 
level of community need in this area and the potential 
of online services of this type. 

As the foundation now moves into its next chapter, it 
will be fascinating to see how we continue to evolve. 
Who knows what exciting new ground will be covered 
in the foundation’s next 50 years? 

Finally, it would be remiss of me to not acknowledge 
Joh Kirby, who retired as the foundation’s Executive 
Director on 30 June 2017, and the vast impact she 
had in her time with us. Joh commenced with the 
foundation as its Grants Manager in 2006, and became 
its Executive Director in 2008. In her time in this role 
she provided vision, leadership and a commitment 
to improving community legal information resources 
that was second to none. Her legacy is significant and 
will be lasting. On behalf of the board I offer my most 
sincere gratitude to Joh for the impact she has had 
and our very best wishes for her next chapter. 

The Honourable Hartley Hansen QC  
Chair 

From the Chair

In its first 50 years, Victoria Law Foundation has 
always sought to maximise the impact of its work. 
And, over the years, the foundation certainly has 
influenced the legal landscape in Victoria. 

What has changed is the foundation’s approach to 
making a positive impact. This has evolved over time 
to ensure the foundation and its programs remain 
relevant and effective. 

Some of the foundation’s significant achievements 
in working to make Victoria’s legal system more 
accessible are highlighted on pages 10–11, but I will 
briefly touch upon some of the most notable. 

In its earliest days, the foundation worked to support 
and build the legal profession through access to 
professional education and resources. It provided 
funding to establish law libraries, new law courses 
at Victorian universities and legal vocational training 
centres. 

Later in the foundation’s history we began to provide 
seed funding for new legal service organisations to 
help address gaps and community needs. These 
included the Mental Health Legal Centre, the Public 
Interest Law Clearing House (PILCH, now known as 
Justice Connect), and more recently, funding that 
helped establish the Human Rights Law Centre. In 
2014, we worked with an inner-city community legal 
service to establish the placement of a lawyer in the 
Royal Children’s Hospital to form one of Victoria’s first 
health-justice partnerships. 

As time has progressed, though, the world we live 
in has evolved. The online space has developed into 
a behemoth force, offering enormous potential to 
provide legal support to the community in new and 
innovative ways. 

The foundation has responded to this still relatively 
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From the Chair

This year marks my second year as Chair of the 
foundation.  

Of primary concern has been overseeing the 
implementation of the foundation’s new strategic plan 
and management of the foundation’s limited resources.

The new strategic plan commenced on 1 July 2015 
and shifted the foundation’s focus from the delivery 
of programs (grants, publications, education) to 
the delivery of a primary aim: ‘helping Victorians 
understand the law.’ To achieve this we have focused 
on three audience groups: the community, students 
and the profession. This has allowed us greater 
flexibility to respond to the ever-changing external 
environment in delivering our programs.

We have a number of achievements to celebrate 
from this financial year. Our annual Law Week festival 
was once again a resounding success, growing in 
attendance by 3,500 to approximately 10,000 attendees 
across Victoria. This was supported once again by our 
Grants Program which provided $90,599 in funding 
for Law Week events. We have found that focusing 
our grants funds on Law Week and legal information 
programs strengthens our ability to fulfil our strategic 
plan. Our community website, Everyday-Law, 
celebrated its second birthday in May. This year it 
helped over 100,000 Victorians with their legal issues.

Our Education Program goes from strength to strength, 
with our Metropolitan Law Talks expanding to two 
events in this financial year. The success of this 
program is due to the work of foundation staff and the 
support it receives from judges, practitioners and 

members of the wider legal and education sectors 
who supply quality speakers and venues. We know 
that this program shapes a young person’s view of the 
law and legal system. Some are inspired to become 
practitioners while others are empowered into 
adulthood by their knowledge about the law.

The profession is a key to helping Victorians 
understand the law. It is, accordingly, very pleasing 
that the profession responds so well to the training 
and resources we make available. Our Plain Language 
and Better Information workshops are always in high 
demand, and we have enjoyed positive feedback 
following each training session.

Mention must also be made of the Law Oration, 
this year given by Laureate Professor Emeritus 
Cheryl Saunders AO on the topic ‘Australian federal 
democracy.’ I acknowledge the successful relationship 
with the Melbourne Law School in presenting this 
event.

This year saw a number of changes to the Board. 
On completion of her term in September, Paula Davey 
left the Board, and I thank her for her contribution. 
Three new members were appointed: Stephen Roche, 
Claudia Fatone and Melissa Castan, referred to in last 
year’s Annual Report. They bring a range of experience 
to the Board.

Finally, thanks are due to the staff of the foundation 
for their commitment and energy in successfully 
managing the various activities undertaken in the 
year. All of this, of course, under the outstanding 
leadership of the Executive Director. 

The Honourable Hartley Hansen QC 
Chair
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Our board 

A six-person board governs Victoria Law Foundation. 

Board members hold honorary positions and are 
appointed under the Victoria Law Foundation Act 
2009 (Vic). 

The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Victoria 
nominates the Chair of the Board. The Victorian 
Bar, the Law Institute of Victoria and the Federation 
of Community Legal Centres (Victoria) Inc. each 
nominate a member, and the Attorney-General of 
Victoria appoints two members. Apart from the Chair, 
all members serve three-year terms.

Victoria Law Foundation 
Board

Left to right 

Elizabeth Brimer 
Nominee of the Victorian Bar

Belinda Wilson 
Nominee of the  
Law Institute of Victoria

Claudia Fatone  
Nominee of the Federation 
of Community Legal Centres 
(Victoria) Inc.

Melissa Castan 
Appointed by the Attorney-
General of Victoria

The Honourable Hartley 
Hansen QC  
Chair of Victoria Law 
Foundation 

Stephen Roche  
Appointed by the Attorney-
General of Victoria 

Audit, Finance and 
Investment Subgroup

Stephen Roche  
Chair

Elizabeth Brimer  
Member

The Honourable Hartley 
Hansen QC  
Member

Joh Kirby  
Member 

Belinda Wilson  
Member 

Grants Subgroup 

Elizabeth Brimer  
Chair

Melissa Castan  
Member

Claudia Fatone  
Member

Joh Kirby  
Member
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From the  
Executive Director

The year 2017 marks 50 years since the foundation’s 
establishment. It is also my last year as Executive 
Director of the Victoria Law Foundation.

It has been a great privilege to lead the foundation for 
the last eight years (and work here for 11). In that time 
the foundation has had a significant impact on raising 
the profile and generating discussion about the need 
for improved community legal information. Along the 
way we have delivered some great programs that have 
reached out to Victorians and engaged them in the 
legal system.

When I started at the foundation in 2006, as the Grants 
Manager, the legal landscape was a surprisingly 
different place. Paper was king and things such as 
smart phones and apps weren’t even in the mix. 
Internet was slow. Dial-up connections were common 
– no one had heard of the NBN – and if you lived in 
rural or regional Victoria, you were lucky if you had 
any internet access at all. How times have changed 
and I am pleased to say that the foundation has been 
changing with it – embracing these technologies to 
better deliver its programs. 

While it is easy to focus on the means of delivery, 
the primary focus at the foundation is always on 
delivering programs that are useful and accessible to 
our audience. For no matter how clever or innovative a 
website, an app or other digital platform, if the public 
can’t use it to take action, then it has failed. We must 
always listen and consult with our audience. Find out 
what they want and how they want it. Not just how 
we want to deliver it and what we want to tell them. 

Ultimately at the foundation we want to ‘make 
learning about the law easy’. For that we focus on 
quality information delivered in an engaging way. How 

do we engage people in the law, make them feel more 
comfortable and better placed to recognise a legal 
problem and take action when they need to? This is a 
theme throughout all our work. Keep it positive, speak 
clearly to our audience and make it engaging. 

Reading this report you will see that all of our 
programs speak to these points – Law Talks, Law 
Week, our social media profile, Everyday-Law, our 
publications and the projects we fund through our 
grants. 

So, as I step into a new role I look forward to watching 
the further development of the foundation. In its 
50 years it has been a dynamic and responsive 
organisation. The changes brought about by the 
Access to Justice Review will see an incredible 
injection of funding to the sector and some significant 
changes to the foundation with the addition of a 
research arm. Clearly the sector and the foundation 
will not be the same in another 11 years’ time, 
and that is a good thing. However, that said, what 
is essential is that we continue to put the needs 
and wants of Victorians first in our thoughts when 
developing and delivering our programs. 

Joh Kirby 
Executive Director 
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From the 
Executive Director

This is the first annual report under our new strategic 
plan, which commenced this year and ends in 2020/21. 

This new strategic plan allows us to focus our 
resources on our three key audiences: the community, 
school students and the profession. By focusing on 
these particular audience groups, we are able to tailor 
our programs to meet their needs and achieve our 
overarching aim ‘to help Victorians understand the law 
and use it to improve their lives.’ This report highlights 
the benefits of this shift to a focus on who we are 
delivering our programs to, rather than what programs 
we are delivering. 

Law Week 2015 built on the success of previous years 
and produced a varied program throughout Victoria. 
We were thrilled to see an increase in events in rural 
and regional Victoria, and hope that this continues to 
build next year. We appreciate the involvement of the 
courts and community organisations who help make 
Law Week a success through delivering a range of 
interesting and informative programs that engage 
Victorians with the legal system. 

This year saw a continuing shift to more electronic 
delivery of our legal information programs. Our 
community publications are now all available in HTML 
versions and we have seen a steady increase in traffic 
to these resources and our websites generally. The 
increase in traffic to both our corporate and Everyday-
Law websites is evidence that we are engaging our 
key audiences with topical and useful legal information 
and tools. Given our small teams and limited budget, 
we are proud of this achievement.

The foundation believes that working in partnership 
with other stakeholders in the legal sector and beyond 
is extremely important. We were pleased to work with 
a number of legal, government and community 
organisations across our programs, particularly in 
the production of Bike Law. Working with VicRoads, 
Bicycle Network, Cycling Victoria, the City of 
Melbourne, the City of Yarra and the Amy Gillett 
Foundation gave us valuable insights and feedback. 
Over 100,000 copies of Bike Law were distributed 
across Victoria by the end of 2015/16.

Our Law Talks program reached 1,713 students in 
metropolitan and regional areas. It is rewarding to see 
students enthusiastically engaging with the speakers 
while learning about the law and the legal system. 
Engaging students early gives them the opportunity 
to grow their knowledge of the legal system and 
potentially see themselves working in the legal sector 
some day.

Our plain language training for students also grew this 
year. Launched in 2015, the foundation provided plain 
language training to over 150 law students in 2015/16.

The foundation’s achievements are possible due to our 
small but dynamic team who are passionate about and 
committed to our work. Thanks to all foundation staff 
for their efforts.

Thanks must also go to the Board, who have offered 
me a great deal of support. Thanks to the Victoria Law 
Foundation Chair, the Honourable Hartley Hansen QC, 
and other Board members for their support and 
governance this year. 

I look forward to the foundation’s future and building 
on our success. I believe that our new strategic plan 
allows us to focus our resources to provide the best 
results for our key audiences, which helps us achieve 
our main priority, ‘to help Victorians understand the 
law.’

Joh Kirby 
Executive Director
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Our staff

Victoria Law Foundation employs 12 full-time 
equivalent staff to help Victorians understand the 
law and use it to improve their lives. Our team has 
expertise in a range of disciplines, including plain 
language, publishing, grant-making, education, 
media and communications, and, of course, law. Their 
commitment to the foundation’s priorities (community, 
school students and profession) enable them to deliver 
engaging and informative programs and events which 
have a positive impact on the lives of Victorians.

Left to right

Clare Kennedy  
Legal Writer and Editor  
(from January 2017)

Madeleine McGlade  
Education Officer 
(until June 2017)

Stephanie McHugh  
Publishing Officer

Melanie Rygl  
Grants Manager

Rebecca Tattersall  
Business and Finance 
Manager  
(from August 2016)

Michael Wintrip  
Communications Officer  
(from April 2017)

Fabiola Superina  
Education Manager

Cristina Gutierrez  
PA to the Executive Director 
and Office Manager

Joh Kirby  
Executive Director  
(until June 2017)

Stephanie Philbrick  
Communications Manager  
(from November 2016)

Tenielle Hagland  
Executive Projects 
Coordinator

David Thomson  
Teacher-in-Residence

Emily Shipp  
Content Officer – Digital  
(until May 2017)

Keagan Ryan  
Communications Coordinator 
– Digital  
(From December 2016)

Emilia Maubach  
Events Coordinator

Georgia Angus  
Law Week Festival Director 
and Events Manager

Absent 

Elisa Berg  
Deputy Director, Manager 
Online Strategy and 
Publishing  
(until February 2017)

Sharyn Casey  
Finance Officer  
(from February 2017)

Ian Elsum  
Finance Officer  
(until November 2016)



1972 
Establishment funding for legal education at  
La Trobe University through the Faculty of Arts

1974  
Establishment funding for Leo Cussen’s 
Practical Legal Education

1987
Establishment funding for Mental Health  
Legal Centre

1990  
Establishment funding for Environmental 
Defenders Office, now Environmental  
Justice Australia

1994  
Establishment funding for Public Interest Law 
Clearing House (PILCH), now Justice Connect

2006  
Establishment funding for Human Rights Legal 
Resource Centre, now Human Rights Law 
Centre (no.3 in Australia’s Top 50 Philanthropic 
Gifts of All Time)

2010 
Seed funding for Deakin University Centre  
for Rural Regional Law and Justice

2014  
Funding for Inner Melbourne Community 
Legal’s health-justice partnership, placing  
a lawyer in the Royal Children’s Hospital

Our funding has seeded significant projects  
across Victoria. We have supported projects 
ranging from human rights to mental health  
to environmental law, as well as tertiary legal 
education and pro bono services.

1973–1995
Funding of law libraries:

• University of Melbourne

• Monash University

• State Library of Victoria

• La Trobe University

• Supreme Court Library

1987 
Civics and Citizenship Education Project kits  
for schools and education

1996–2015 
Legal Reporting Awards promoting excellence 
in legal journalism

1998 
Plain language publishing program established. 
First publications, Local Laws series

2009 
Better Information Workshops commenced 
(formerly Legal Sector Publishing Forums) 
providing training on producing effective 
community legal information

2011 
Churchill Fellowship report by Joh Kirby,  
A study into best practice community legal 
information launched

Better Information Handbook, published  
by the foundation

2015 
Law student plain language training program 
commences across Victorian Universities 

2017 
Review of the quality of community legal 
information material completed

Over Victoria Law Foundation’s history, we have 
focused on breaking down barriers to the law.  
By promoting clear information on how the legal 
system works, the foundation continues to help 
the community better understand the law.

1986 
Community legal centre funding for computers 
and new technology 

2005 
Funding for the development of the Law 
Handbook Online by Fitzroy Legal Service

2008
Funding for Magistrates’ Court virtual tour 

2009
Funding Children’s Court virtual court 
experience

VictoriaLaw website developed by the 
foundation, providing access to Victoria’s plain 
language legal information, both in English  
and other languages

2011 
Funding for VCAT and Coroners Court  
virtual tours

2013 
Everyday-Law website developed by the 
foundation, explaining the legal system  
and providing information on common legal 
issues. Winner of the ClearMark award for  
best legal document

2014 
Funding for Magistrates’ Court family  
violence website explaining the intervention 
order process

2016
Funding to develop FineFixer, a web tool to help 
people deal with their fines by Moonee Valley 
Legal Service  

Tapping into community needs, Victoria Law 
Foundation has supported the use of innovative 
technology to help create a more accessible  
legal sector. From virtual court tours to easy-to-
use legal tools, the foundation has helped bring 
legal information to the places people need it.

1980 
Funding for the inaugural Law Week 

2007 
Law Talks (previously the Civics Roadshow) 
commences, with a rolling annual program for 
rural, regional and disadvantaged VCE Legal 
Studies students. Delivered by the foundation

2011 
Beyond the bars, a radio program and CD giving 
voice to indigenous prisoners, a Community 
Radio Federation 3CR project

2014–2017 
Funding for Talking Justice, a program of 
lectures, debates and discussions on the law 
held in Bendigo during Law Week by Advocacy 
and Rights Centre

2015 
Culpable driving court room drama – a high 
impact interactive video for upper secondary 
students by National Trust

Victoria Law Foundation engages the community 
with a range of engaging events and activities.  
A rich program in Law Week, outreach Law Talks 
and educational materials help make the law part 
of everyday life.

1978 
Victoria’s Lawyers, a groundbreaking report  
on lawyers in the community, published by  
the foundation

1984  
Civil Justice Report on improving the administration 
of the courts, published by the foundation

1994
Facing the future, a study on gender, employment 
and best practice issues for law firms, published by 
the foundation

2005 
Community Legal Centre Fellowship established 
by the foundation

2006
Funding for the elder law project by Southport 
Community Legal Service, to identify a model 
for legal services to meet the need of Victoria’s 
elderly community

2009 
Funding for Deakin University, Postcode  
Justice – Rural and Regional Disadvantage  
in the Administration of the Law in Victoria

2010 
Funding for Law Institute of Victoria to assess 
the impact of the Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities on legal practice in Victoria

2017
Research report Legal information in languages 
other than English, published by the foundation

Supporting research to make a better legal sector is 
integral to Victoria Law Foundation. Directed towards 
the issues of the day, such research has influenced 
lawmakers and promoted better access to justice and 
a wider understanding of legal issues. 

‘The establishment of Victoria Law Foundation was 
truly groundbreaking, as it was the first of its kind 
anywhere in the world. The other states soon 
modelled our approach of the distribution of funds 
to worthy causes via our grants program.’

Dr Robin Sharwood AM
First Executive Director 
Victoria Law Foundation

‘The Public Interest Law Clearing House (PILCH), 
now known as Justice Connect, has been responsible 
for a major shift in the level of collaboration between 
the private and public legal sectors. Without the  
seed funding provided by Victoria Law Foundation, 
Justice Connect would not exist. It has since grown 
into a significant organisation providing centralised 
access to pro bono legal services across Victoria.’

Coroner Caitlin English
Coroners Court Victoria  

‘Unfortunately, most people’s first contact with 
the law can be when they have a legal problem. 
They can feel really ill-equipped to know what 
to do. We want to change that by giving Victorians 
the opportunity to find out about the law when 
they are not in a stressful situation, to make them 
feel more informed and more likely to take action 
when faced with a legal problem.’

Joh Kirby
Executive Director  
Victoria Law Foundation 
2008 – 2017  

‘Victoria Law Foundation supports investment in 
the next generation of legal tools to improve access 
to justice. FineFixer, a web tool designed by RMIT 
students and developed by Moonee Valley Legal 
Service to help people understand their fines and 
take action, is a shining example.’

Brendan Lacota
Principal Lawyer 
Moonee Valley Legal Service

‘Victoria Law Foundation provides outstanding 
community and school education to Victorians, 
consonant with its functions as stated in its 
governing Act. The clarity, accessibility and 
comprehensiveness of its community education 
is unique. And its school programs are of  
especial benefit to students across Victoria.  
I commend the foundation and its Executive 
Director Joh Kirby for their work.’

The Honourable Philip Cummins AM
Chair
Victorian Law Reform Commission

‘Victoria Law Foundation had the vision to recognise 
that my particular project would meet a real need 
by assisting community legal centres with their 
day-to-day service delivery.’

Rachna Muddagouni
Chief Executive Officer 
commUnity+ 
Community Legal Centre Fellow

‘Thinking and planning ahead – a resource manual 
for community legal centre staff.’ 

www.
victorialaw
foundation.
org.au
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providing training on producing effective 
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2011 
Churchill Fellowship report by Joh Kirby,  
A study into best practice community legal 
information launched

Better Information Handbook, published  
by the foundation

2015 
Law student plain language training program 
commences across Victorian Universities 

2017 
Review of the quality of community legal 
information material completed

Over Victoria Law Foundation’s history, we have 
focused on breaking down barriers to the law.  
By promoting clear information on how the legal 
system works, the foundation continues to help 
the community better understand the law.

1986 
Community legal centre funding for computers 
and new technology 

2005 
Funding for the development of the Law 
Handbook Online by Fitzroy Legal Service

2008
Funding for Magistrates’ Court virtual tour 

2009
Funding Children’s Court virtual court 
experience

VictoriaLaw website developed by the 
foundation, providing access to Victoria’s plain 
language legal information, both in English  
and other languages

2011 
Funding for VCAT and Coroners Court  
virtual tours

2013 
Everyday-Law website developed by the 
foundation, explaining the legal system  
and providing information on common legal 
issues. Winner of the ClearMark award for  
best legal document

2014 
Funding for Magistrates’ Court family  
violence website explaining the intervention 
order process

2016
Funding to develop FineFixer, a web tool to help 
people deal with their fines by Moonee Valley 
Legal Service  

Tapping into community needs, Victoria Law 
Foundation has supported the use of innovative 
technology to help create a more accessible  
legal sector. From virtual court tours to easy-to-
use legal tools, the foundation has helped bring 
legal information to the places people need it.

1980 
Funding for the inaugural Law Week 

2007 
Law Talks (previously the Civics Roadshow) 
commences, with a rolling annual program for 
rural, regional and disadvantaged VCE Legal 
Studies students. Delivered by the foundation

2011 
Beyond the bars, a radio program and CD giving 
voice to indigenous prisoners, a Community 
Radio Federation 3CR project

2014–2017 
Funding for Talking Justice, a program of 
lectures, debates and discussions on the law 
held in Bendigo during Law Week by Advocacy 
and Rights Centre

2015 
Culpable driving court room drama – a high 
impact interactive video for upper secondary 
students by National Trust

Victoria Law Foundation engages the community 
with a range of engaging events and activities.  
A rich program in Law Week, outreach Law Talks 
and educational materials help make the law part 
of everyday life.

1978 
Victoria’s Lawyers, a groundbreaking report  
on lawyers in the community, published by  
the foundation

1984  
Civil Justice Report on improving the administration 
of the courts, published by the foundation

1994
Facing the future, a study on gender, employment 
and best practice issues for law firms, published by 
the foundation

2005 
Community Legal Centre Fellowship established 
by the foundation

2006
Funding for the elder law project by Southport 
Community Legal Service, to identify a model 
for legal services to meet the need of Victoria’s 
elderly community

2009 
Funding for Deakin University, Postcode  
Justice – Rural and Regional Disadvantage  
in the Administration of the Law in Victoria

2010 
Funding for Law Institute of Victoria to assess 
the impact of the Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities on legal practice in Victoria

2017
Research report Legal information in languages 
other than English, published by the foundation

Supporting research to make a better legal sector is 
integral to Victoria Law Foundation. Directed towards 
the issues of the day, such research has influenced 
lawmakers and promoted better access to justice and 
a wider understanding of legal issues. 

‘The establishment of Victoria Law Foundation was 
truly groundbreaking, as it was the first of its kind 
anywhere in the world. The other states soon 
modelled our approach of the distribution of funds 
to worthy causes via our grants program.’

Dr Robin Sharwood AM
First Executive Director 
Victoria Law Foundation

‘The Public Interest Law Clearing House (PILCH), 
now known as Justice Connect, has been responsible 
for a major shift in the level of collaboration between 
the private and public legal sectors. Without the  
seed funding provided by Victoria Law Foundation, 
Justice Connect would not exist. It has since grown 
into a significant organisation providing centralised 
access to pro bono legal services across Victoria.’

Coroner Caitlin English
Coroners Court Victoria  

‘Unfortunately, most people’s first contact with 
the law can be when they have a legal problem. 
They can feel really ill-equipped to know what 
to do. We want to change that by giving Victorians 
the opportunity to find out about the law when 
they are not in a stressful situation, to make them 
feel more informed and more likely to take action 
when faced with a legal problem.’

Joh Kirby
Executive Director  
Victoria Law Foundation 
2008 – 2017  

‘Victoria Law Foundation supports investment in 
the next generation of legal tools to improve access 
to justice. FineFixer, a web tool designed by RMIT 
students and developed by Moonee Valley Legal 
Service to help people understand their fines and 
take action, is a shining example.’

Brendan Lacota
Principal Lawyer 
Moonee Valley Legal Service

‘Victoria Law Foundation provides outstanding 
community and school education to Victorians, 
consonant with its functions as stated in its 
governing Act. The clarity, accessibility and 
comprehensiveness of its community education 
is unique. And its school programs are of  
especial benefit to students across Victoria.  
I commend the foundation and its Executive 
Director Joh Kirby for their work.’

The Honourable Philip Cummins AM
Chair
Victorian Law Reform Commission

‘Victoria Law Foundation had the vision to recognise 
that my particular project would meet a real need 
by assisting community legal centres with their 
day-to-day service delivery.’

Rachna Muddagouni
Chief Executive Officer 
commUnity+ 
Community Legal Centre Fellow

‘Thinking and planning ahead – a resource manual 
for community legal centre staff.’ 

www.
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About us 
Victoria Law Foundation is a not-for-profit statutory body established under 
legislation in 1967. Our functions are set out in the Victoria Law Foundation 
Act 2009 (Vic). The Victorian Legal Services Board Public Purpose Fund,  
which draws interest from solicitor trust accounts, funds our work.

The foundation helps Victorians understand the 
law and use it to improve their lives. We do this by 
delivering engaging and informative programs and 
events that provide information on common legal 
problems and explain how the legal system works.

This year is the foundation’s 50th anniversary, and 
an opportunity to ask ourselves: what aspects of our 
history are most worth collecting and recording in 
print to help commemorate our achievements?

To find some answers we dived into the archives 
to gather highlights from the last 50 years. What 
we uncovered was overwhelming. The breadth 
and ambition of the various projects was beyond 
cataloguing in brief published form. 

Our solution was to select some of the foundation’s 
outstanding projects from each decade. The 
resulting highlights, which are now featured on 
a commemorative banner and booklet, provide a 
snapshot of the foundation’s DNA. We hope they 
provide something of the breadth and impact of the 
foundation’s work and the vision of those behind it. 
They are highlighted on pages 10–11.  

The foundation continues to deliver programs that 
help Victorians understand the law in the ways 
outlined below.

Find out more at... 

www. 
victorialaw 
foundation. 
org.au 

Community 
Our community programs focus on breaking down 
the barriers to the legal system and empowering 
Victorians to access the law by improving their 
knowledge and level of engagement. One way we do 
this is by producing high-quality legal information 
both in print and online. We make it easier to find 
through the Everyday-Law website. We also help 
Victorians engage with the law by connecting them 
to informative and entertaining events through Law 
Week, Everyday-Law event listings, and the Law 
Oration. 

School students 
Our school student programs reach out to Legal 
Studies students in rural, regional and disadvantaged 
schools, giving them opportunities to learn more 
about the law and engage with the legal sector. The 
program includes regional and metropolitan Law 
Talks programs, Classroom Law Talks and access to 
resources developed for these programs. Through 
the ‘Teacher resources’ section of the foundation’s 
website we support Legal Studies teachers by making 
it easier for them to find programs and resources that 
will help them in their teaching. This means our work 
has the potential to benefit all Victorian Legal Studies 
students. 

Profession 
Legal and related services (the profession) are the 
largest providers of legal information and advice in 
Victoria. Communicating complicated legal concepts 
to the general community is difficult and requires 
considerable skill. If we can improve the way that 
the profession communicates legal information, we 
can have a direct impact on Victorians’ experience 
of the legal system. With a focus on leadership and 
advocacy, the foundation is continuing a conversation 
about the importance of good communication in the 
law, with the aim of influencing the way the legal 
sector and profession communicates. To achieve 
this we offer training, provide access to a range of 
resources on good communication, and share our 
knowledge.
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Our strategic priorities

School 
students 

Engage school 
students to take a 
lifelong interest in 
the law and their 

legal system 

Community 
Educate more 

Victorians about  
the legal system  
and how it works

Profession
Support access to 

justice by informing 
the legal sector about 

relevant issues 
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9,000 
Victorians attended  

Law Week

220,866 
visitors to  

Everyday-Law

9,405 
Victorians attended 
community events

326,365 
print and  
electronic  
editions

37
publication  

titles
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PRIORITY

Community 
Educating more Victorians about the law and their legal system

Victoria Law Foundation exists 
because its founders 50 years ago 
wanted to make the legal system 
more accessible to Victorians. As 
a result, throughout our history the 
community has been our biggest 
audience, and its needs have driven 
our projects and initiatives. This 
year our work reached thousands 
of Victorians, from students and 
members of the public who attended 
events, to consumers of our online 
and print publications. 

The legal system is complex, and as a result it can 
be intimidating for Victorians trying to navigate 
it. We know from our research that much of the 
legal information produced for the community is 
unsuitable, making the task of informing Victorians 
about the law and the legal system even harder. 
We focus on breaking down the barriers to the legal 
system and empowering Victorians to access the 
law. We believe that a combination of improving 
Victorians’ access to quality legal information and 
connecting them with engaging events about the 
law is the best way of improving the community’s 
knowledge and engagement. 

Better access to legal information 
Improving access to legal information means 
producing accurate and easy-to-understand 
information about the law and the legal system. It also 
means making it easier for the community to find that 
information ‘when and how they want it’. 

Our programs in this area are audience-focused, 
ensuring we meet the information needs of the 
community through our print and electronic 
publications. Our Everyday-Law website improves 
access to legal information by making it easier to 
find online. And the extensive expertise we have in 
community legal information and plain language also 
positions us to deliver quality legal information that is 
easier to understand. 

Engaging events 
Events are an effective way to reach a wide cross-
section of the community. While all our events 
educate Victorians about the law, many of them 
are also presented as entertainment. This not only 
gives people the information they want and need, 
but makes learning about the law easier. As with 
many of our programs, we work closely with various 
organisations across the sector to deliver our events 
program. This year we worked with 65 partner 
organisations in the delivery of Law Week, and we 
promote other organisations’ events through the 
Everyday-Law website.
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Where there’s a Will – there’s a way
The aim of the foundation’s community publications 
is to provide Victorians with high-quality legal 
information that is easy to understand. This year we 
launched a new publication Your Will, A guide to 
making a Will in Victoria.

Feedback from our stakeholders and consultation 
told us that there was a need for a high quality, 
comprehensive publication on Wills. While there were 
a number of resources already available they either 
lacked the depth of information that was needed or 
were too complicated for a community audience. 

In determining a new title, we always consider the 
impact it is likely to have – how many Victorians 
are affected by an issue and what is the result of 
misunderstanding the law. In the case of Wills we 
knew that every adult Victorian would benefit from 
the information and hopefully providing a better 
understanding would reduce conflict during the 
distressing time after the death of a loved one. 

As the target audience for Your Will was all Victorians, 
not just the obvious older people or new parents, the 
design, language and imagery had to reflect this. 
To make sure that we got this right we tested the 
publication on a representative group.

And to ensure that the information provided was both 
comprehensive and accurate, we drew on experts 
from the sector to form a reference group to assist us. 
Representatives from Victorian Bar, community legal 
centres, the Law Institute of Victoria, Seniors Rights 
Victoria, Aitken Partners, Australian Funeral Directors 
and State Trustees participated in this process. We 
thank them for their assistance and support.

Your Will is now also available in print and online 
formats including HTML and Word allowing 
Victorians to access the information in their preferred 
way. 

We are pleased that the publication has already 
enjoyed considerable interest and demand, with 
25,000 copies pre-ordered before the first print 
run. We attribute this result to strong community 
partnerships that allow us to reach our audience 
effectively. 

Improving access to legal information  
for Victorians

Since our establishment 50 years ago, our primary vision has always been 
to raise community understanding of, and access to, a better and more 
responsive justice system. One way of doing this is to make it easier for 
Victorians to find the legal information they want and need. In 2016/17 we 
have responded by expanding our range of community legal information 
publications. 

Community

Your 
Will

A guide to 
making a Will 
in Victoria 

Wills InDesign file version 3.indd   1 30/06/2017   9:06:09 AM
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Everyday-Law – improving the 
quality of community legal 
information 
For 50 years we have aimed to make the legal system 
more accessible to Victorians. In 2016/17 we have 
continued to develop and improve the Everyday-Law 
website as a community resource to help reach this 
goal.

Now in its third year since launching, Everyday-Law 
serves as an online single point of entry for Victorians 
seeking information about common legal problems. 
The website gathers the best community legal 
information available online and points users to them. 
The website is supported by active promotion on 
social media platforms, which dramatically increases 
its reach. 

This year the range of information and resources 
available through Everyday-Law grew to include ten 
factsheets on some of the most common legal issues 
that affect people in their daily lives. The factsheets 
evolved from resources originally developed by Fitzroy 
Legal Service. We adapted the original resources so 
they met best practice standards in plain language 
community legal information, to ensure that they 
would be as accessible as possible to a community 
audience. 

The factsheets cover a wide range of topics from 
criminal to civil law. Some answer practical questions 
that may arise when a person is dealing with the 

police, including bail and a person’s rights when they 
are arrested. Others answer the sorts of questions 
raised by home buyers, home owners and renovators. 
The divorce, surrogacy and changing your name 
factsheets deal with personal and relationship issues, 
while the infringements factsheet is a useful guide for 
dealing with fines.

The ten factsheet titles are listed in the table below.

Our publications 
Our publications are grouped by imprint. Each imprint focuses on a particular audience group or highlights 
partnerships we have with different organisations. 

Community Education In partnership 
Bike Law 

Dogs, cats, neighbours and 
you 

Law help guide 2017 

Neighbours, the law and you

Parking, the law and you 

Your Will (NEW)

Factsheets (NEW):
• Bail

• Being arrested

• Building and renovating

• Building disputes

• Buying and selling 
property

• Changing your name

• Conveyancing

• Divorce

• Infringements

• Surrogacy

Case studies on human rights 

Danielle come to judgment

Death at Blue Hills 

Dr Grant and his underpants

Melbourne’s legal precinct – 
excursion 

Melbourne’s legal precinct – 
teacher notes 

We the jury – VCE teacher 
notes

We the jury – VELS teacher 
notes

We the jury – video  

About the County Court

Architecture of the Supreme 
Court of Victoria 

Supreme Court of Victoria 

General Advisors Websites
Melbourne’s legal precinct 

Victoria’s legal system

What do I call the judge? 

Better Information handbook 

Law help directory 

Legal glossary

Plain language and good 
communication (NEW) 

Disaster Legal Help 

Everyday-Law

Factsheet

everyday-law.org.au

Page 1 of 5Being arrested or questioned by police

Last updated: 30 May 2017Being arrested or
questioned by police

 Summary

This factsheet covers:

your rights when dealing with police

your obligations when dealing with police

being arrested

being searched

people with a disability and the police and

making a complaint about police behaviour

This information relates to laws in Victoria, Australia.

The law dealing with arrest and interrogation in Victoria is complicated. This
factsheet sets out your rights when dealing with the police and provides
information about where to go if you have a complaint.

The basics
The law in this area is designed to strike a proper balance between individual rights on the one
hand and the community’s need for effective law enforcement on the other.

Situations where a person’s rights are not observed are common, and it is difficult to do
anything about this. The best way to make sure police give you all your rights is to know what
they are and to speak out if a problem comes up. Remember, many people are convicted
because of admissions they have made to police.

Your rights and obligations when dealing with the police
When dealing with the police, in most cases, you do not have to:

answer any questions or make any statements
go to a police station unless you have been arrested (taken into custody) and have been
told what you will be charged with
participate in an identification line-up
undergo an intimate forensic procedure (e.g. blood sample, examining the genital or anal
region, saliva sample, dental impression) unless a court orders you to do so.

Factsheet

everyday-law.org.au

Page 1 of 6Buying and selling a property

Last updated: 30 May 2017Buying and selling a
property

 Summary

This factsheet contains information about:

invesigating property title

fees and charges when buying and selling property

lodging the transfer of land

where to go if you have a complaint

This information relates to laws in Victoria, Australia.

When buying and selling property, you want the process to go as smoothly as
possible. This factsheet explains the legal steps you should undertake before
buying a property. It doesn’t cover buying or selling a business, farm or
commercial property.

Where to start
First read the introductory factsheet called ‘Conveyancing and mortgages’. It includes
information about where to go for help with conveyancing, finding the money for your
purchase, deposits, mortgages and negotiating the contract.

Investigating the title
As a buyer, you must investigate the title carefully before settlement day. For example;
checking whether the vendor in fact has the right to sell, or checking whether the title is
affected by anything other than a mortgage. You should measure the land, and consider
getting a surveyor to check it.

Usually a copy of the title search from the Land Registry will be attached to the Vendor’s
Statement, as well as information about rates, taxes and zoning. You should independently
check this information, and request an up to date title search.

All sellers and estate agents must make a Due Diligence Checklist available to potential buyers.
You can also get the checklist from Consumer Affairs Victoria.

Buyers should always check:

a zoning certificate from the Department of Planning or the local council
a VicRoads certificate about road making or widening plans

Factsheet

everyday-law.org.au

Page 1 of 4Infringements

Last updated: 30 May 2017Infringements

 Summary

This factsheet contains information about:

infringements and fines

the infringement process

your options if you get an infringement notice

recent changes to the infringements system in Victoria

This information relates to laws in Victoria, Australia

Many Victorian laws allow police, councils and other authorities to issue
infringement notices. These are often called ‘on-the-spot’ fines. This factsheet
explains how to deal with fines including payment options and how to apply to
have them cancelled or revoked.

What is an infringement?
They are issued for minor offences such as parking and traffic offences, public transport
offences and public order offences. The penalty for one of these offences is usually set by the
legislation that creates the offence.

In Victoria, more than 130 organisations have power to issue infringement notices. These
issuing agencies include government departments, hospitals, tertiary institutions, CityLink and
Eastlink, Melbourne Markets, the Taxi Directorate and other statutory bodies. Notices may be
handwritten and handed to you, or attached to your vehicle, or mailed to you.

The infringements process
The stages of an infringement are:

1. An infringement notice is issued. If it is not paid or contested, then:

2. A penalty reminder notice is issued. If it is not paid or contested, then:

3. An enforcement order is issued. If it is not paid or contested, then:

4. An infringement warrant is issued. If it is not paid or contested, then the sheriff may seize
property, or arrest the person, or use other enforcement measures.

Factsheet

everyday-law.org.au

Page 1 of 5Divorce

Last updated: 30 May 2017Divorce

 Summary

This factsheet contains information about:

which laws and courts deal with divorce

how you get a divorce

family dispute resolution

the distribution of property in a divorce

This information relates to laws in Victoria, Australia.

Breakdowns in families or relationships can be very distressing, and when you
don’t understand the law this can add to feelings of confusion. This factsheet is
designed to provide basic information about the law of divorce in Australia as well
as some ideas about where to get more information and assistance.

The Family Law Act
The Family Law Act 1975 (Cth) is the legislation that deals with divorce and the resolution of
disputes in relation to children and the division of family property.

The Act encourages parties to negotiate disputes in their early stages. Counselling for parties
in disputes over children is nearly always ordered as a first step, and in most cases it is
compulsory before the start of a court case. Family violence is an exception. Conciliation
conferences with a Registrar of the court are also required before a property application.

Where the parties cannot resolve their dispute, they can apply to have it decided by a judge of
the Federal Circuit Court or the Family Court.

The Federal Circuit Court of Australia
The Federal Circuit Court deals with the less complex federal matters in family law. It provides
a quicker, cheaper option for litigants. The Federal Circuit Court can hear about matters in
these areas:

applications for divorce
family law property disputes
spousal maintenance, including overseas maintenance
parenting orders
all location and recovery orders regarding children
determination of parentage and recovery of child-bearing expenses
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Our events 

For 50 years we have aimed to make the legal system more accessible 
to Victorians. One of the ways we do this is by delivering a program of 
stimulating events designed to capture the attention of the community and 
challenge perceptions of the law and legal system. Our success in this area in 
2016/17 can be seen through the depth and quality of our program of events 
aimed at the community, particularly during Law Week. 

Law Week 
Law Week, run in May each year, is a great 
opportunity for the Victorian community to 
learn about their legal system and how it works. 
Coordinated by the foundation, event partners from 
across Victoria deliver a range of informative and 
engaging events and activities for the community. 

In the past four years, we have refocussed Law Week 
to make it more engaging and interesting. Our focus 
is on quality not quantity, but this year’s program 
offered both – a depth and breadth of events never 
before seen. With more than 160 high-quality events 
run by 70 partners across Victoria, the program’s 
offerings grew by more than 50% from the previous 
year. 

And the breadth of program meant that there really 
was something on offer for everyone. Particular 
highlights included Deadly Law Week – our first 
ever Indigenous Law Week program, information 
sessions and ‘pop-up’ legal clinics, mock trials, 
panel discussions, workshops, tours, exhibitions and 
musical performances. 

As in previous years, Courts Open Day was one of the 
highlights of the week. A program packed with tours, 
information sessions, face-painting and exhibitions 
resulted in very strong attendance at this event. 

The Law Week Festival Hub at Federation Square was 
bigger than ever this year and for the first time played 
host to a number of information and pop-up sessions 
offered as part of the Law Week program. 

The Law Week program continued to grow in rural 
and regional areas of Victoria, with more than 20 
events in regional areas including Bendigo, Geelong, 
Benalla, Yarrawonga, Wodonga, Ballarat and 
Wangaratta. 

Law Week and Courts Open Day attracted significant 
interest on social media thanks to  robust social media 
promotion. For the first time, we broadcast several 
Law Week events via live-streaming service Facebook 
Live, expanding the reach of Law Week to people who 
weren’t there in person. And twice during Law Week, 
the festival’s hashtag was a trending topic on Twitter, 
increasing the reach of the festival to the community. 

Our success at engaging Victorians with the law in 
new and innovative ways through this year’s Law 
Week program speaks to the community’s appetite to 
learn about their legal system. We are excited to build 
on this further in 2017/18. 
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Law Oration 
2016 
On 21 July 2016, The Honourable Justice Mark 
Weinberg AO presented a thought-provoking Law 
Oration in the Banco Court of the Supreme Court 
of Victoria on the topic Of Mozart, Modern Drafting 
and the Criminal Lawyers’ Lament. The oration put 
forward the positions that contemporary criminal law 
is burdened by too many laws, that a number of these 
laws are too lengthy and complex and that the laws 
are too frequently amended. 

The oration was well received by those in attendance 
and after the event through a transcript and video 
recording of the event available on the foundation’s 
website. 

2017 
On 9 February 2017, just days after retiring as Chief 
Justice of the High Court of Australia, The Honourable 
Robert French AC delivered the Victoria Law 
Foundation Law Oration entitled Rights, Freedoms 
and the Rule of Law. 

His paper shone a light on contemporary legal issues 
including the role of the courts in upholding the Rule 
of Law. The topical nature of the theme resulted 
in significant news media coverage of the event, 
particularly due to the international political climate 
of the time. One particular highlight of the resulting 
media coverage was that we were approached by 
A-PAC (a public service public affairs TV channel 
available through Foxtel and online) with an offer 
to host the full video of the oration, dramatically 
increasing the oration’s reach and audience. 

We look forward to building on this success in 
subsequent years to continue helping the community 
to engage with ideas about the law.   

‘The Hon. Robert French 
is a fantastic speaker, who 
delivered a speech that 
was pitched perfectly to 
the broad audience’ 
A Law Oration 2017 attendee 
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2,154 
students attended 

Law Talks

55 
schools involved  

in Law Talks

77 
teacher resources  

on website
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PRIORITY

School students
Encouraging school students to take a lifelong interest in the law 

Since its early days the foundation 
has supported student legal 
education. During the 1970s we 
provided establishment funding for 
tertiary legal education and further 
education for law graduates. Over the 
past decade our focus has shifted to 
helping secondary students gain a 
better understanding of the law, with 
programs designed to help students 
navigate the legal system and make 
informed decisions throughout their 
lives.

For students
Our school-student programs reach out to VCE Legal 
Studies students at rural, regional and disadvantaged 
schools. Each program is tailored to the VCE Legal 
Studies curriculum and connects students with 
members of the legal profession who share their 
knowledge and experiences. 

We deliver three school programs. Regional Law Talks 
is a two-day interactive program in regional and rural 
Victoria delivered to multiple classes of Year 11 and 
12 VCE Legal Studies students. Metropolitan Law 
Talks is a one-day program for Year 12 metropolitan 
students from disadvantaged schools. Classroom 
Law Talks is a more personalised program where 
individual members of the profession either visit 
schools and present tailored programs, or students 
have the opportunity to visit a court.

Participating students hear from and meet experts 
from some of Victoria’s most significant legal bodies, 
including the state’s courts and parliament, the 
Victoria Law Reform Commission and the Juries 
Commissioner’s Office. 

For teachers
To extend the reach of our programs, we support 
all Victorian Legal Studies teachers by making it 
easier for them to find useful resources produced by 
the sector. This involves helping to coordinate the 
development of these resources across the sector and 
making them easy to find on our searchable ‘Teacher 
resources’ database located on the foundation’s 
website.
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Inspiring school students 

Since 1967 the foundation has worked to make the law and legal system more 
accessible to Victorians. One effective way of doing this is to engage the 
community from a young age. Our school students programs aim to encourage 
students from rural, regional and disadvantaged schools to take a lifelong 
interest in the law. 

Helping rural and regional 
students engage with the law
Our Regional Law Talks program offers students 
from regional and rural schools an interactive two-
day program that helps students better understand 
topics covered by the legal studies curriculum and 
build their (and their peers’) interest in the law more 
generally.

Run in two Victorian regions each year, in 2016/17 
our Regional Law Talks program visited Wangaratta 
and Horsham to bring Law Talks to 420 students 
undertaking VCE Legal Studies at schools within 
these regions. 

During Wangaratta Law Talks, students heard a 
presentation by human rights lawyer Veronica 
Harrcou, who had represented Chan and Sukamaran 
of the Bali Nine up to their executions. Her moving 
and powerful talk helped the students understand 
more about the impact that the legal system and 
human rights law in particular can make in a real- life 
context. 

Our 2017 Horsham Law Talks dates coincided with 
a regional Department of Justice road trip, whose 
representatives were keen to participate in Law 
Talks. As a result, the students were fortunate to 
hear a series of short presentations from the Sheriffs, 
Corrections, Court Network and Koori Court, as well 
as participating in a mock mediation by the local 
Dispute Settlement Centre. Students also participated 
in a mock jury empanelment at the local county court 
including sitting in the jury box and visiting the jury 
room. The ‘accused’ on both days particularly enjoyed 
their right to ‘challenge’ prospective jurors.

The local member, Ms Emma Kealy MP, ran a joint 
session with The Honourable PD Cummins, Chair 
of the Victorian Law Reform Commission about 
law-making by parliament and the courts, and were 
overwhelmed by requests for photos by groups of 
students during the break. 

In both regional programs, students enthusiastically 
engaged with and responded to the speakers not only 
during the formal sessions but also during breaks 
and over lunch for informal discussions, questions, 
and photos. Opportunities like this to interact with 
members of the legal sector in less formal ways are 

powerful in helping students to understand that 
behind the law-making process lies real people, and 
that perhaps that could one day be them.

As always, we are deeply grateful to the members 
of the legal sector who volunteer their time and 
expertise to deliver Regional Law Talks. Without their 
goodwill, generosity and support, this program would 
not be possible. 

Instilling a lifelong interest in the 
law among metropolitan students 
Metropolitan Law Talks offers a one-day program 
for Year 12 Legal Studies students from schools 
identified as disadvantaged. The program includes a 
range of presentations delivered by senior members 
of the judiciary, practitioners and leaders of key legal 
bodies, and includes a session on how to succeed 
with Legal Studies assessment tasks and the exam. 
The presentations relate directly to the Legal Studies 
curriculum.

In 2016/2017, we consolidated the relationships and 
networks we have developed to again successfully 
run two Metropolitan Law Talks events.

We have continued our partnership with RMIT 
University’s Centre for Innovative Justice. We were 
very fortunate to once again have former Victorian 
Attorney-General and Centre Director Rob Hulls as 
our opening speaker, as he continues to inspire all 
those who attend Law Talks.

And this year, as part of the foundation’s 50th 
anniversary celebrations, we were delighted to hold 
Law Week Law Talks at Deakin Edge. This premier 
venue enabled us to invite 250 students to attend 
from schools across Victoria, and put Law Talks at the 
centre of Law Week, sharing Federation Square with 
the Law Week hub. 

We were also pleased to have the Victorian 
Ombudsman, Deborah Glass OBE, as a presenter for 
the second time, as well as speakers from VCAT and 
the Sentencing Advisory Council presenting at Law 
Talks for the first time. Impressive Q & A sessions at 
the end of each session demonstrated how engaged 
the students were. Teachers requested that the 
Sentencing Advisory Council be rebooked on the 
spot for the following year, which was very pleasing 
spontaneous feedback.
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Classroom Law Talks grows 
Our Classroom Law Talks program takes the law and 
legal system on the road to visit schools in regional 
and remote areas of Victoria. In 2016/17, Classroom 
Law Talks reached more than 1,000 students by 
connecting schools with judges, barristers and legal 
practitioners in their local area or visiting for court 
tours and talks for a one- to two-hour session in a 
small group. Classroom Law Talks is an effective way 
to address the disadvantage caused by distance.

This year we worked closely with the Supreme and 
County courts as well as the Victorian Bar Student 
Engagement Committee to ensure the maximum 
number of students and schools could participate in 
this program. We especially want to acknowledge the 
generosity and commitment of Reserve Magistrate 
Clive Alsop, who dedicated two weeks to a road 
trip speaking to students across Victoria. The 
feedback from Magistrate Alsop’s talks has been 
overwhelmingly positive from all participants. 

‘At parent-teacher 
interviews one parent 
told me their daughter 
was now considering 
a career in law after 
hearing the associates 
talk about what they do 
and their career options’ 
A Legal Studies teacher attending 
Classroom Law Talks 



24

182 
attendees at plain 
language training

591 
plain language 

resources

104 
attendees at 

Better Information 
workshops
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PRIORITY

Profession 
Support access to justice by educating the profession about relevant issues 

Turning complex legal language into 
understandable legal information 
for the community is not an easy 
task. At the foundation, in our 50th 
year, we continue to give legal and 
related services (the profession) the 
skills to do exactly this. We aim to 
help Victorians understand the law 
by improving the way the profession 
communicates. 

With a focus on leadership and advocacy, we offer 
training, provide access to a range of resources on 
good communication and share our expertise and 
knowledge.

Communicating complicated legal concepts to 
the general community is difficult and requires 
considerable skill. To that end, this year we reviewed 
the ‘Better Information’ section of our website, 
and highlighted some valuable resources for the 
profession to improve the quality of communication 
and community legal information. 

Our Better Information program: 
continuing to train the legal sector 
Part of our challenge is to increase the profession’s 
understanding and give them the tools to better 
communicate with the Victorian community. If 
the legal profession produces best practice legal 
information then the Victorian community will be 
better positioned to understand the law. 

This is why we offer our Better Information program, 
which aims to support the legal sector with the skills 
and expertise to develop best-practice community 
legal information. 
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Towards better legal information 

Since the foundation’s beginnings we have sought to make the legal system 
more accessible to the community. One way of doing this is to ensure that 
legal professionals are equipped with the skills to communicate effectively to 
a community audience. We work with and deliver training to members of the 
legal sector to make sure this is possible. 

Better Information workshops: 
instilling communication skills in 
the profession 
A key component of the Better Information program 
is our workshops. These free workshops are held 
for legal practitioners, community workers and 
publishing and communications professionals who 
produce community legal information in print and 
digital forms. The workshops continue to be popular 
among the sector, with representatives from the 
courts, community legal centres, government and 
private practices regularly attending. 

This year we offered workshops on evaluation, 
traditional and new media, Easy English and 
improving community legal information. Not only do 
these workshops provide tips for attendees to take 
away and implement in their workplace, they also 
offer a fantastic networking opportunity for those who 
attend. 

Skills for developing legal 
information in plain language
To help achieve our goal of helping legal professionals 
communicate effectively with the community, we run 
plain language training for legal professionals in the 
form of all-day intensive workshops. These workshops 
remain very popular and have a significant waiting 
list. To ensure maximum impact, we prioritise legal 
professionals who are providing community legal 
information. 

The popularity of these workshops shows that the 
plain language movement is gaining momentum, 
which should reaffirm our commitment to providing 
this training free of charge. 

Training legal professionals at the 
start of their career
To help train the profession in effective 
communication, we also run plain language training 
workshops for future lawyers: tertiary law students.  

Helping law students understand the importance of 
writing for a specific audience early in their career 
not only benefits them throughout their degree, but 
it also helps them stand out within the profession. 
As more law firms adopt plain language policies, the 

ability to be able to communicate effectively is highly 
desirable. Delivered in partnership with law student 
societies, this training challenges law students to take 
an audience-centred approach to their writing and 
provides practical tips on what will be expected of 
them in the legal workplace.

Online resources to support legal 
professionals wherever they are 
The Better Information section of our website is home 
to a comprehensive set of online resources to help 
legal professionals produce effective community legal 
information. 

Our newly developed ‘Better Information toolkit’ 
draws together the best resources from this section 
of the website into a toolkit as a go-to resource. 
It includes the Better Information handbook, the 
Victorian Legal Assistance Forum (VLAF) Online 
Legal Information Guidelines, our legal glossary, 
a plain language guide and a recent report on 
legal information in languages other than English. 
Collecting these tools in one online location makes 
them easier for professionals to access when they 
need them. 

And our plain language resources database continues 
to provide legal professionals with access to the best 
plain language resources from Australia and around 
the world. These resources are broken up into five 
categories: essential writing tools, legal writing, non-
legal writing, standards and guidelines, research and 
journals. They can be short-listed through a keyword 
and category search, making the database easy to 
navigate. 
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Better understanding community legal information in Victoria

• Significant improvement needed  
to bring it to level B 

• Issues with structure, design,  
relevance of content, plain language 
writing

• Meet community legal 
information best practice 
standards

• Consistently written

• Developed to meet the needs of 
the audience

We reviewed the quality  
of the best 1500 legal  
information resources  
available to Victorians.

23
were graded

%

18
were graded

% A

B
C D59

were graded

%

A Better 
Information project

View the full infographic at  
victorialawfoundation.org.au 

Consumer 
Affairs Victoria 

(86%) and Victoria Legal 
Aid (66%) had the highest 
percentage of A-grade 
resources.

Of the 136 
organisations 
with material 
included on 
Everyday-
Law, 44% 

had no resources that met 
A or B criteria – many of 
these were statutory bodies.

44%

Legal information resources in Victoria

We are always seeking ways to improve the Victorian 
community’s understanding of the law and legal 
system. As part of a review of the content of ‘Find 
legal answers’, we reviewed 1,500 legal resources to 
determine the quality of legal information in Victoria 
and identify gaps in community legal information. 
Some of the key findings of the review are highlighted 
in the infographic above. 

Some of the more important insights and 
recommendations to come out of the review included: 

• Of the over 1500 resources reviewed: 

 — 18% met community legal information best 
practice standards

 — 23% were satisfactory needing some 
improvement, and

 — 59% fell into the unsatisfactory grading (C and 
D) requiring significant improvement.

• While a considerable amount of legal information 
is available, only a limited amount is suitable for a 
community audience. 

• Only 18% of currently available community 
legal information resources meet best practice 
guidelines. 

• There is a need to focus on improving the quality 
of existing community legal information in 
Victoria before seeking to address gaps in legal 
information. 

Overall, the results of this systematic review provide 
strong evidence that there is a need for significant 
improvement in the quality of community legal 
information in Victoria. The foundation is well 
positioned to continue lending its expertise in plain 
language legal information to the sector to help move 
towards this goal. 
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$164,710
General Grants 

awarded

$201,010
grants funding 

awarded

$36,300
Small Grants 

awarded

143%
increase in  

website visitors
$2,092,042

annual budget

250,234
number of  

website visitors
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PRIORITIES 

Organisation-wide
Supporting our work

Over the last 50 years, our success 
has relied on how well our work is 
connected to our core objective of 
helping Victorians understand the 
law; each of our initiatives must be 
able to speak directly to that. We also 
offer grants to support strong projects 
in other parts of the legal sector and 
the community which meet this 
standard. 

Coming up with good ideas that fit 
our core objective is not enough. The 
professional delivery of each program 
is critical to our success. Excellence 
in finances, risk management and 
human resources are key to the 
foundation’s achievements and 
sustainability. 

Reaching our audiences
For our programs to be successful our audiences need 
to know about them, and for that to occur effective 
communications programs are essential. We continue 
to develop and implement communication strategies 
that allow us to have the greatest impact, with an 
ongoing commitment to innovation and meeting 
our audiences where they already are. This includes 
dynamic content such as videos to promote our work, 
blog posts distributed through Facebook, Twitter 
and Linked In, news articles on Everyday-Law and 
increased activity across all social media channels. 
This year we have started expanding the reach of our 
events through live-streaming technologies. 

The success of this work has seen strong attendance 
and reach of our events, publications and resources, 
and we remain committed to exploring new 
technological opportunities as they emerge. 

Our Grants Program
This year our Grants Program focused on improving 
Victorians’ understanding of the law and the legal 
system, with priority given to legal information 
projects that filled an area of need, and to the 
development of Law Week events, particularly those 
in rural and regional Victoria.

By supporting legal information projects, we are 
taking steps to improve the quality of community 
legal information, which we know often falls short 
of best practice standards. By funding Law Week 
events, especially those in rural and regional Victoria, 
we are reaching more Victorians with a program that 
we know engages and grows interest in the legal 
sector and how it works.
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General Grants 
2016/17 budget: $170,000

Our General Grants are for large projects. This year, the average grant amount was $32,942 (excl. GST). 

In 2016/17, we funded five projects with a total value of $164,710. Of this $67,259 funded Law Week events. 

The Grants Subgroup of our board considers General Grant applications with reference to the foundation’s 
statutory functions, our strategic priorities and guiding principles. This year priority was given to projects that 
supported Law Week and legal information grants. 

Applicant Project Amount  
(excl. GST)

Council on the Ageing 
(Vic) Inc

Death of a partner: The development of practical and easy to use 
guide to assist the surviving partner and family to navigate the 
system and find support.

$11,444

Federation of 
Community Legal 
Centres Victoria Inc

Federation web redevelopment: Redevelopment of the Federation’s 
website to better engage and communicate with members, the 
broader community, the media, and policy- and decision-makers.

$55,000

Indigenous Law 
Students and Lawyers 
Association of Victoria 
Tarwirri Inc

Deadly Law Week: A week of programming to promote and raise 
awareness of legal and policy issues affecting the Indigenous 
community in Victoria.

$20,766

Loddon Campaspe 
Community Legal 
Centre (Advocacy and 
Rights Centre Ltd)

Talking Justice 2017: A series of engaging public talks and 
workshops held in Bendigo during Law Week 2017, that promote 
understanding, discussion and debate of justice issues that are 
relevant and responsive to the Victorian community. 

$20,000

Moonee Valley Legal 
Service

FineFixer: To develop a web tool that guides users in navigating the 
fines and infringements system, helping users to understand their 
fine and take action.

$57,500

Total $164,710
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Small Grants 
2016/17 budget: $30,000

Our Small Grants offer organisations the opportunity to act quickly to meet immediate needs, to deliver low-cost, 
high-impact projects or to scope larger potential projects. 

In 2016/17, we awarded 12 Small Grants with a total value of.

Small Grants are for projects with budgets up to $5,000 (excl. GST). Our Executive Director awards our Small 
Grants with reference to the foundation’s statutory functions, our strategic priorities and guiding principles. This 
year priority was given to projects that supported Law Week and legal information grants. 

Applicant Project Amount  
(excl. GST)

Council on the Ageing 
(Vic) Inc

End of life decisions for GLBTI Victorians: A Law Week panel 
discussion on future planning for the LGBTI community.

$2,655

Eastern Community 
Legal Centre Inc

Law Week in the library: Five workshops held in Whitehorse and 
Manningham libraries during Law Week, where the community can 
find out more about the legal system.

$2,000

Fair Work Commission Harvester, Revisited – Law Week mock hearing: A mock hearing, 
held in Law Week 2017, reenacting the 1907 Harvester Case 
revisiting one of the foundation judgements in Australian industrial 
relations.

$3,400

Fitzroy Legal Service 
Inc

Know your rights!: Information sessions on discrimination and legal 
rights at Fitzroy and Richmond libraries during Law Week 2017.

$2,000

Gateway Community 
Services

Planning ahead – Wills and powers of attorney for seniors: Three 
information sessions during Law Week for seniors to help understand 
their rights, the benefits and risks associated with wills and powers 
of attorney.

$2,646

Greater Bendigo City 
Council, The Capital

The Court Sessions: Bendigo Writers Festival interview two legal 
writers at the Dunolly Courthouse during Law Week 2017.

$3,000

Justice Connect Walk for Justice – A new approach: To relaunch the Walk for Justice 
during Law Week 2017 in Melbourne and Geelong. The walk aims to 
engage the public on issues of access to justice; unmet legal need 
and free assistance of lawyers; and bring together people who share 
a common commitment to social justice.

$3,000

National Trust of 
Australia (Victoria)

Heritage advocacy toolkit: A free community resource to navigate 
the legal and planning processes that protect Victorian heritage 
places.

$4,990

Nevin Lenne & Gross Bali death row presentation and Q&A: Transport for local Legal 
Studies students to attend this Law Week presentation by a local 
lawyer.

$1,000

St Kilda Legal Service 
Co-operative Ltd

Legal Issues for Professionals booklet update consultation: 
Consultation to inform the future delivery of a legal information 
resources for sex workers.

$4,817

St Kilda Legal Service 
Co-operative Ltd

Breaking down barriers forum: In partnership with City of 
Stonnington, St Kilda Legal Service will hold a forum during Law 
Week 2017 focusing on barriers people with a disability face.

$4,292

Women and Mentoring 
– WAM Ltd

Why do women commit crimes?: A panel event during Law Week 
2017 to raise awareness of criminal justice issues faced by women in 
Victoria.

$2,500

Total $36,300
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The accompanying  
notes form part of these  
financial statements. 

Income statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017  
$

2016  
$

Revenue  

Legal Services Board Public Purpose Fund 3 1,849,298 1,756,600

Managed funds distributions, dividends and other gains 3 181,898 173,265

Realised gains on investments 3 206,366 149,238

Other income 3 81,131 76,314

 3 2,318,693 2,155,417

Less: expenses 

Depreciation expense 4 (26,745) (20,235)

Employee benefit expense 4 (1,096,749) (1,094,774)

Occupancy expense (87,152) (85,857)

Program expenses (486,928) (531,399)

Administrative expenses (232,779) (159,988)

Website development expense (22,141) (43,209)

Other expenses (81,871) (31,561)

 (2,034,365) (1,967,023)

Surplus from continuing operations 284,328 188,394
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The accompanying  
notes form part of these  
financial statements. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2017

2017  
$

2016 
$

Surplus for the year 284,328 188,394

Other comprehensive income 

Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets (129,521) (93,837)

Transfer of revaluation reserve relating to disposed investments (27,678) (56,063)

 (157,199) (149,900)

Other comprehensive income for the year (157,199) (149,900)

Total comprehensive income 127,129 38,494
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The accompanying  
notes form part of these  
financial statements. 

Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2017

Note 2017  
$

2016 
$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 289,800 70,577

Trade and other receivables 6 89,462 45,230

Other current assets 7 21,283 16,033

Total current assets 400,545 131,840

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 8 2,515,161 2,623,640

Plant and equipment 9 90,415 73,589

Total non-current assets 2,605,576 2,697,229

Total assets 3,006,121 2,829,069

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 10 148,015 98,063

Provisions 11 193,121 184,518

Total current liabilities 341,136 282,581

Non-current liabilities 

Provisions 11 15,216 23,848

Total non-current liabilities 15,216 23,848

Total liabilities 356,352 306,429

Net assets 2,649,769 2,522,640

Equity 

Reserves 12 83,626 240,825

Accumulated funds 13 2,566,143 2,281,815

Total equity 2,649,769 2,522,640
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The accompanying  
notes form part of these  
financial statements. 

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017

 
Reserves  

$

Retained 
earnings 

$

Total  
equity 

$

Balance as at 1 July 2015 390,725 2,093,421 2,484,146

Surplus for the year – 188,394 188,394

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (93,837) – (93,837)

Transfer of revaluation reserve relating to disposed investments (56,063)  – (56,063)

Total comprehensive income for the year (149,900) 188,394 38,494

Balance as at 30 June 2016 240,825 2,281,815 2,522,640

Balance as at 1 July 2016 240,825 2,281,815 2,522,640

Surplus for the year – 284,328 284,328

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (129,521) – (129,521)

Transfer of revaluation reserve relating to disposed investments (27,678) – (27,678)

Total comprehensive income for the year (157,199) 284,328 127,129

Balance as at 30 June 2017 83,626 2,566,143 2,649,769
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The accompanying  
notes form part of these  
financial statements. 

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017  
$

2016  
$

Cash flow from operating activities

Payment of approved grants and projects (210,874) (380,817)

Funding from Legal Services Board Public Purpose Fund 1,849,298 1,756,600

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,746,689) (1,773,742)

Interest received 16,254 16,392

Sale/(payment) of goods (2,071) 6,007

Sponsorship and project income 42,000 36,700

Net cash outflow from operating activities 14(b) (52,082) (338,860)

Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of investments 2,739,796 1,852,351

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 1,282 –

Payment for plant and equipment (45,775) (61,815)

Payment for shares and managed fund acquisitions (2,628,773) (1,794,465)

Dividends and distributions received 181,898 173,265

Recoupment of imputation credits received 22,877 23,222

Net cash provided by investing activities 271,305 192,558

Cash at beginning of the financial year 70,577 216,879

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 219,223 (146,302)

Cash at end of financial year 14(a) 289,800 70,577
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Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

The financial report covers Victoria Law Foundation as an individual entity. Victoria Law Foundation is a body 
corporate pursuant to the Victoria Law Foundation Act 2009. Victoria Law Foundation is a notforprofit entity for 
the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the Foundation in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise 
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report

Historical Cost Convention
The financial report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations to fair 
value for certain classes of assets and liabilities as described in the accounting policies.

Fair value measurement
For financial reporting purposes, ‘fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer 
a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants (under current market conditions) at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique.

When estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the entity uses valuation techniques that are appropriate 
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value are categorised into three levels according to the extent to which the inputs are observable:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(b) Revenue

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon delivery of goods to customers.

Funding revenue received from the Legal Services Board Public Purpose Fund is brought to account upon 
receipt. 

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend is established. 

Interest revenue is measured in accordance with the effective interest method. 

All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(c) Grants provided

The Foundation brings into account as a provision all amounts approved under the Foundation’s Grants 
Program. Recognition of the provision occurs when the formal approval of a grant is given by the Foundation and 
an acceptance of conditions of grant is signed by the grant recipient.

(d) Taxation 

Income Tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the Foundation is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
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(e) Financial instruments

Classification
The Foundation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The 
classification depends on the nature of the item and the purpose for which the instruments are held.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above categories or are 
designated as such on initial recognition. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to equity. The cumulative 
gain or loss is held in equity until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
held in equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

Non-listed investments for which the fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost and tested for 
impairment.

(f) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and, where applicable, any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives commencing from the time the asset is held available for use, consistent with the 
estimated consumption of the economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rates Depreciation basis

Leasehold improvements at cost 2.5%–40% Straight line

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost 5–33% Straight line

Computer equipment at cost 10–33% Straight line

Library at cost 5% Straight line

Library 
The cost of purchases which represent long term holdings of the library are capitalised and subsequently 
depreciated. Expenditure on library materials of a short term reference nature are expensed in the year of 
purchase.
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Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies – continued

(g) Impairment of nonfinancial assets

Assets with an indefinite useful life are not aortised but are tested annually for impairment in  
accordance with AASB 136. Assets subject to annual depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances arise that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired. 

An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Where the future economic benefits of an asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net 
cash inflows and where the Foundation would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic 
benefits, the recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the asset’s depreciated replacement cost which is 
defined as the current replacement cost less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost.

(h) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of 
the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred, net of any incentives received from the lessor.

Lease incentives received under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straightline 
basis over the life of the lease term.

(i) Employee benefits

Employee benefits comprises wages and salaries, annual, accumulating sick leave and long service leave, and 
contributions to superannuation plans.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, accumulated sick leave and any other employee 
benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal 
amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other 
employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Contributions made by the Foundation to an employee superannuation fund are recognised as an expense as 
they become payable. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in the future payment is available. 

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting 
period are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be 
paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of compensated 
absences such as annual leave and accumulated sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 
All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables in the statement of financial 
position.

(i) Long-term employee benefit obligations
The provision for other long-term employee benefits, including obligations for long service leave and annual 
leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the reporting period, 
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of the services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future 
wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and are discounted at rates determined 
by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms 
of the related obligation. For currencies in which there is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, 
the market yields (at the end of the reporting period) on government bonds denominated in that currency are 
used. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are 
recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the change occurs.
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Other long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after 
the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. All other long-term employee 
benefit obligations are presented as non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

(j) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs including interest expense calculated using the effective interest method, finance charges in 
respect of finance leases, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that 
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
and payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(l) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current 
year disclosures.

Note 2: Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Foundation. The 
Foundation has decided not to early adopt any of these new and amended pronouncements. The Foundation’s 
assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Foundation but applicable in 
future reporting periods is set out below.

AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2014), AASB 20147: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014), AASB 20148: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)  Application of AASB 
9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018).

These Standards will replace AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The key changes 
that may affect the Foundation on initial application of AASB 9 and associated amending Standards include:

• simplifying the general classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried 
at fair value;

• permitting entities to irrevocably elect on initial recognition to present gains and losses on an equity 
instrument that is not held for trading in other comprehensive income (OCI);

• simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives, including removing the requirements to separate and 
fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost;

• requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the 
change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in OCI, except when it would create an 
‘accounting mismatch’;

• introducing a new model for hedge accounting that permits greater flexibility in the ability to hedge risk, 
particularly with respect to nonfinancial items; and

• requiring impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost to be based on an expected loss approach.

Although the members anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the Foundation’s financial 
instruments, it not expected to have a material impact. 
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Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

Note 2: Accounting standards issued but not yet effective – continued

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 20145: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15, AASB 20158: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards  Effective Date of AASB 15, AASB 20163: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards  Clarifications to AASB 15 and AASB 20167: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards  Deferral of AASB 15 for NotforProfit Entities (applicable to for profit entities for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018 and to notforprofit entities for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019).

AASB 15 will provide (except in relation to some specific exceptions, such as lease contracts and insurance 
contracts) a single source of accounting requirements for all contracts with customers, thereby replacing all 
current accounting pronouncements on revenue.

These Standards provide a revised principle for recognising and measuring revenue. Under AASB 15, revenue is 
recognised in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the provider of the goods or services expects to be entitled. To give effect to 
this principle, AASB 15 requires the adoption of the following 5-step model:

• identify the contract(s) with a customer;

• identify the performance obligations under the contract(s);

• determine the transaction price;

• allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations under the contract(s); and

• recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies the performance obligations.

AASB 15 also provides additional guidance to assist entities in applying the revised principle to licences of 
intellectual property, warranties, rights of return, principal/agent considerations and options for additional goods 
and services.

Although the members anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Foundation’s 
reported revenue, it not expected to have a material impact.

AASB 16: Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019).

AASB 16 will replace AASB 117: Leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model that will require a 
lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at their cost and lease 
liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition:

• right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis to non-financial assets, whereby the right-of-use 
asset is accounted for in accordance with a cost model unless the underlying asset is accounted for on a 
revaluation basis, in which case if the underlying asset is:

• investment property, the lessee applies the fair value model in AASB 140: Investment Property to the right-of-
use asset; or

• property, plant or equipment, the lessee can elect to apply the revaluation model in AASB 116: Property, Plant 
and Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate to that class of property, plant and equipment; and

• lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis as other financial liabilities, whereby interest expense 
is recognised in respect of the liability and the carrying amount of the liability is reduced to reflect lease 
payments made.

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, under 
AASB 16 a lessor would continue to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases subject to whether 
the lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
underlying asset, and would account for each type of lease in a manner consistent with the current approach 
under AASB 117.

Although the members anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 may have an impact on the Foundation’s 
accounting for its operating leases, it not expected to have a material impact.
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 3: Revenue

Legal Services Board Public Purpose Fund 1,849,298 1,756,600

Managed funds distributions, dividends and other gains 181,898 173,265

Profit on sale of investments 206,366 149,238

Other income 

Imputation credits refund 22,877 23,222

Sponsorship and project income 42,000 36,700

Interest income 16,254 16,392

 81,131 76,314

Total revenue 2,318,693 2,155,417

Note 4: Surplus from continuing activities

Surplus before income tax has been determined after:

Profit on sale of investments 206,366 149,238

Depreciation 26,745 20,235

Employee benefits: 

– Short term benefits 972,622 985,229

– Other employee benefits 124,127 109,545

 1,096,749 1,094,774

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 922 –

Remuneration of auditors for: 

Pitcher Partners (Melbourne)

Audit and assurance services 

– Audit of the financial report 20,000 19,000

Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 220 250

Cash at bank 101,081 67,048

Cash on deposit 188,499 3,279

289,800 70,577
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 6: Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade debtors 3,850 3,850

GST receivable 30,310 34,772

Other debtors 55,302 6,608

 89,462 45,230

Note 7: Other current assets 

Current

Prepayments 21,283 16,033

Note 8: Available-for-sale finanical assets

Non-current

Listed securities at fair value

Domestic listed 453,857 1,033,504

Unlisted securities at fair value 

Domestic equity 868,450 8,268

Foreign equity 444,335 512,973

Fixed interest 748,519 1,068,895

 2,515,161 2,623,640

All assets listed above are measured and recognised as Level 1 assets under the fair value measurement 
hierarchy. All Foundation investment assets are measured based on available quoted prices traded on active 
financial markets.
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 9: Plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements at cost 42,859 39,559

Less accumulated depreciation (16,332) (12,302)

 26,527 27,257

Library at cost 3,204 3,204

Less accumulated depreciation (3,174) (3,171)

 30 33

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost 89,990 90,721

Less accumulated depreciation (71,142) (66,336)

 18,848 24,385

Computer equipment at cost 88,868 85,989

Less accumulated depreciation (43,858) (64,075)

 45,010 21,914

Total plant and equipment 90,415 73,589
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 9: Plant and equipment – continued

(a) Reconciliations

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the 
beginning and end of the current financial year 

Leasehold improvements

Opening carrying amount  27,257  1,083

Additions  3,300  30,780

Depreciation expense  (4,030)  (4,606)

Closing carrying amount  26,527  27,257

Library

Opening carrying amount  33  36

Depreciation expense  (3)  (3)

Closing carrying amount  30  33

Furniture, fixtures and fittings

Opening carrying amount  24,385  20,112

Additions  2,110  12,346

Disposals  (122)  –

Depreciation expense  (7,525)  (8,073)

Closing carrying amount  18,848  24,385

Computer equipment 

Opening carrying amount  21,914  10,778

Additions  40,365  18,689

Disposals  (2,082)  –

Depreciation expense  (15,187)  (7,553)

Closing carrying amount  45,010  21,914

Total plant and equipment 

Carrying amount at 1 July  73,589  32,009

Additions  45,775  61,815

Disposals  (2,204)  –

Depreciation expense  (26,745)  (20,235)

Carrying amount at 30 June  90,415  73,589
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 10: Trade & other payables

Current 

Unsecured liabilities 

Trade creditors 27,332 36,475

Sundry creditors and accruals 120,683 61,588

148,015 98,063

Note 11: Provisions

Current

Employee benefits (a) 124,432 96,757

Provision for approved grants 68,689 87,761

 193,121 184,518

Non current 

Employee benefits (a) 4,152 7,089

Provision for approved grants 11,064 16,759

 15,216 23,848

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability 128,584 103,846

Note 12: Reserves

Available-for-sale financial asset reserve 83,626 240,825

 83,626 240,825

The available-for-sale financial asset reserve is used to record movements in fair values of financial assets 
classified as available-for-sale. 

Note 13: Accumulated funds

Accumulated funds at the beginning of the financial year 2,281,815 2,093,421

Surplus attributable to the members of the entity 284,328 188,394

 2,566,143 2,281,815
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 14: Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash 
Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows:

Cash on hand 220 250

Cash at bank 101,081 67,048

At call deposits with financial institutions 188,499 3,279

 289,800 70,577

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit

Surplus from ordinary activities  284,328 188,394

Adjustments and non-cash items

Depreciation 26,745 20,235

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment 922 –

Net gain on disposal of financial assets (206,366) (149,238)

Reclassification of dividends and distributions received to investing 
activities 

(181,898) (173,265)

Reclassification of recoupment of imputation credits received to investing 
activities 

(22,877) (23,222)

Changes in assets and liabilities  

(Increase) / decrease in receivables – 6,007

Increase in other assets (2,859) (9,216)

Increase / (decrease) in payables (9,143) 6,579

Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 59,095 (39,836)

Increase in provisions 24,738 15,571

Decrease in grant provisions (24,767) (180,869)

 (336,410) (527,254)

Cash flows from operating activities (52,082) (338,860)
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2017  
$

2016  
$

Note 15: Capital and leasing commitments

Operating lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the 
financial statements: 

Payable 

– not later than one year 83,364 82,788

– later than one year and not later than five years 20,541 103,904

 103,905 186,692

Operating lease commitments represent rental agreements for the 
Victoria Law Foundation office and a photocopier.  

Note 16: Financial risk management

The Foundation is exposed to the following financial risks in respect to the financial instruments that it held at 
the end of the reporting period:

(a) market price risk

(b) interest rate risk

(c) credit risk

(d) liquidity risk

(e) fair values

The Foundation’s board has overall responsibility for identifying and managing operational and financial risks.

The Foundation does not use derivative instruments to manage risks associated with its financial instruments.

(a) Other market risk

Other market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).

The Foundation may have a material exposure to market price risk.

Sensitivity
Unrealised fair value movements in investments are taken directly to equity. Fair values are measured at 
reporting date based on current bid prices. If security prices were to increase/decrease by 5% from fair values 
as at the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the 
impact on equity is as follows:

2017 
$

2016 
$

Listed securities

+ / – 5% price variation 

Impact on equity 22,693 51,675

Unlisted securities

+ / – 5% price variation

Impact on equity 103,065 79,507
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Note 16: Financial risk management – continued

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market interest rates.

All investments held by the Foundation are noninterest bearing except for cash and fixed interest available-for-
sale financial assets. 

The effective weighted average interest rate on cash is 0.84% (2016: 0.08%). Fixed interest investments have 
a fair value of $748,519 (2016: $1,068,896) which is subject to fluctuation as a result of interest rate risk.  The 
impact of reasonably possible movements in interest rates at year end are not considered to be material.

The Foundation does not have a material exposure to interest rate risk.

No other financial assets or financial liabilities are expected to be exposed to interest rate risk.

(c) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation.

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date of 
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.

The Foundation does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under 
financial instruments entered into by the Foundation.
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(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. 

The Foundation manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cashflows and ensuring that adequate liquid 
funds are available to meet normal operating expenses. When necessary cash may be sourced from liquidation 
of available-for-sale financial instruments, but only with board approval.

Maturity analysis
The table below represents the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments and 
managements expectation for settlement of undiscounted maturities.

 
< 12 months 

$

 
1-5 years 

$

Total contractual 
cash flows 

$

Carrying  
amount 

$

Year ended 30 June 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 289,800 – 289,800 289,800

Receivables 89,462 – 89,462 89,462

Other financial assets – 2,515,161 2,515,161 2,515,161

Payables (148,015) – (148,015) (148,015)

Net maturities 231,247 2,515,161 2,746,408 2,746,408

Year ended 30 June 2016

Cash and cash equivalents 70,577 – 70,577 70,577

Receivables 45,230 – 45,230 45,230

Other financial assets – 2,623,640 2,623,640 2,623,640

Payables (98,063) – (98,063) (98,063)

Net maturities 17,744 2,623,640 2,641,384 2,641,384

(e) Fair values compared with carrying amounts

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying amounts as disclosed in 
statement of financial position and notes to financial statements.
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Note 17: Fair value measurement

(a) Fair Value Hierarchy

The following table provides the fair value classification of those assets and liabilities held by the group that are 
measured either on a recurring or non-recurring basis at fair value.

Level 1 
$

Level 2 
$

Level 3 
$

Total 
$

2017  
Recurring fair value measurements 

Financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value

Domestic listed 453,857 – – 453,857

Domestic equity 868,450 – – 868,450

Foreign equity 444,335 – – 444,335

Unlisted fixed interest 748,519 – – 748,519

Total financial assets 2,515,161 – – 2,515,161

2016 
Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets 
Financial assets at fair value

Domestic listed 1,033,504 – – 1,033,504

Domestic equity 8,268 – – 8,268

Foreign equity 512,973 – – 512,973

Unlisted fixed interest 1,068,895 – – 1,068,895

Total financial assets 2,623,640 – – 2,623,640

(b) Transfers between recurring level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements  

There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year. 

Note 18: Related party transactions

(a) Transactions with other related parties

Victoria Law Foundation board members are also board members of the following organisations who received 
grants and provided sponsorship income (inclusive of GST) as documented below: 

• Fitzroy Legal Services received a total approved grant amount of $2,200 during the 2017 financial year (2016: 
$5,500). Claudia Fatone is the Executive Officer of Fitzroy Legal Service.

• Law Institute of Victoria provided sponsorship income of $5,500 during the 2017 financial year (2016: 
$5,500). Belinda Wilson is a Director of the Law Institute of Victoria.

• Victoria Bar Association provided sponsorship income of $5,500 during the 2017 financial year. Elizabeth 
Brimer is a Member of the Victoria Bar Association.
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Note 19: Foundation details 

The principal place of business of the Foundation is:

Victoria Law Foundation 
Level 5 
43 Hardware Lane 
Melbourne  VIC  3000
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Foundation members’ declaration 

The directors of the Foundation declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 33–55 presents fairly the Foundation’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2017 and performance for the year ended on that date of the Foundation in 
accordance with Accounting Standards in Australia and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements in Australia.

2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Foundation will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the members.

The Honourable Hartley Hansen QC 
Member 

Mr Stephen Roche 
Member

Dated this 12th day of September 2017
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Foundation members’ declaration

The members of the foundation declare that:

1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 27–46 presents fairly the foundation’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2016 and performance for the year ended on that date of the 
foundation in accordance with Accounting Standards in Australia and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements in Australia.

2.  In the members’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the foundation will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the members.

The Honourable Hartley Hansen QC 
Member

Mr Stephen Roche 
Member

Dated this 7th day of September 2016
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Independent auditor’s report  
to the members of Victoria Law Foundation 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Victoria Law Foundation, “the Foundation”, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the foundation 
members’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Victoria Law Foundation, is in accordance with the 
Victoria Law Foundation Act 2009, including:

a.  giving a true and fair view of the Foundation’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Victoria Law Foundation Act 2009.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of our report. We are independent of the Foundation in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 “ACNC Act”, Victoria Law Foundation Act 2009 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants “the Code” that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Foundation’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Report
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance 
with the financial reporting requirements of the Victoria Law Foundation Act 2009 and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Foundation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Foundation or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Foundation’s financial reporting 
process.

An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196 
Level 19, 15 William Street, Melbourne VIC 3000 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms 
Melbourne  |  Sydney  |   Perth  |  Adelaide  |  Brisbane  |  Newcastle 

An independent member of Baker Tilly International
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Independent auditor’s report  
to the members of Victoria Law Foundation

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Foundation’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Foundation to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

 
P A JOSE      PITCHER PARTNERS 
Partner      Melbourne

Dated this 13th day of September 2017



Legal Laneway 
Breakfast 2017
In February each year 
the foundation hosts 
the Legal Laneway 
Breakfast to celebrate 
the opening of the legal 
year. Held in Hardware 
Lane, the event is an 
opportunity for the legal 
sector to come together 
to celebrate. 
This, our 50th year, 
meant there was even 
more to celebrate. 



‘The clarity, accessibility 
and comprehensiveness 
of the foundation’s 
community education is 
unique. And its school 
programs are of especial 
benefit to students 
across Victoria.’
The Hon. Philip Cummins AM  
Chair of the Victoria Law Reform 
Commission  ‘Victoria Law Foundation 

has a very wide reach – 
magistrates, barristers 
and solicitors, private and 
community sector workers, 
educators and students of 
all ages – which means they 
can influence the response 
to emerging legal issues 
and target the necessary 
services.’
Rachna Muddagouni
Chief Executive Officer 
at commUnity+

Victoria Law Foundation helps Victorians 
understand the law and their legal system. 
We are a not-for-profit organisation funded 
by the Victorian Legal Services Board Public 
Purpose Fund.

Victoria Law Foundation 
Level 5, 43 Hardware Lane 
Melbourne Vic 3000 Australia  
T (03) 9604 8100 F (03) 9602 2449 
contact@victorialawfoundation.org.au

 @VicLawFoundn

See our website at 
www.victorialawfoundation.org.au
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